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REPORT OF INVESTIGATION

Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, 1.LC ., conducted the following interviews:

e Chicf Paul Storti, Greal Barringlon Police Department

e Officer Joseph (3'Brien, Great Barrington Police Department

e District Attorney Timothy Shugrue, Berkshire County District Attorney’s Office

e Dr. Peter Dillon, Superintendent of Schools, Berkshire Hills Regional School District

Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC.. reviewed the following material(s):

!\J
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Berkshire Hills Reginal School District [nvestigative Report

December 8, 2023 - Police Search, W.E.B. Du Bois Middle School,

dated February 16. 2024, authored by Kevin M. Kinne, Cohen Kinne Valicenti and Cook LLP
GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-0F, Call #: 23-13206

Body camera video of Officer Joseph O'Brien. dated 12/8/2023

GBPD Policy 1.05, Preliminary Investigations, Effective Date: 9/30/2008

Proposed revisions to GRPD Policy 1.05, Revision Date: 1/10/2024

Berkshire Hills Regional School District Resolution, dated 1/25/2024

M.G.L. ¢. 272, § 29 (Dissemination of Obscene Matter)

On March 3. 2024 Chief Paul Storti, of the Great Barrington Police Department (GBPD). was
interviewed by Comprehensive [ovestigations and Consulting, LLC. This interview was conducted
by telephone and was not recorded. Chicf Storti was asked 10 explain the events which occurred at
the W.E.B. Du Bois Middle School (the School) on December 8. 2023,

Chief Storti stated that on December 8, 2023, he received a telephone call from Officer Joseph

O’ RBrien, GBPD, regarding a complaint (the Complaint) that he had received. Officer O Brien
relayed that the individual (the Complainant) reporting the Complaint wished to remain anonymous
due to lear of retaliation. Chief Storti had taken a half day off work and was at his residence when
Officer O Brien telephoned him. Chiel Storti stated that due to the seriousness of the allegations, he
immediately responded to GBPD.

Upon his arvival at the police station. Chief Storti and Officer O'Brien had further conversation
regarding the Complaint. According to Chief Storti, the Complainant alleged they had observed
students from the School sitting on a teacher’s (the Teacher) lap. the Complainant heard the Teacher
tell students not to tell their parents, and the Complainant observed a book {the Book} on a table
within the Teacher's classroom that depicted illustrations of a sexual content. The Complainant
provided three photographs of these illustrations,

Officer O'Brien showed Chicl Storti the photographs of the illustrations provided by the
Complainant. Two of the photographs were ol the front cover of the Book. The third photograph was
of two interior pages of the Book. Chief Storti stated that the illustrations were concerning because
there was no context provided. Chiel Storti stated that upon reviewing the information, as well as the
photographs. it was his opinion that the police department had a duty to immediately tollow up on the
Complaint.

Following his conversation with Officer O’ Brien, Chief Storti telephoned Dr. Peter Dillon,
Superintendent of the Berkshire Hills Regional School Distriet. Chief Storti explained that he has a
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“great” relationship with Dr. Dillon. According to Chief Storti’s narrative, contained in the GBPD
Incident Report. Incident #: 23-300-OF, I immediately notitied Superintendent Peter Dillon of the
complaint. 1 spoke with Superintendent Dillon and he advised me that he was not aware or familiar
with the book containing these graphic illustrations. Superintendent Dillon stated to me that he would
contact Miles Wheat the principal of the middle school and sec it he knew anything about this and
call me back. He also staled he would put Steve Bannon, Schoolboard Chair, “in the |Dop."’I

Chiel Storti stated that upen further conversation with Dr. Dillon, it was determined that no one was
familiar with The Book. According to Chief Storti’s narrative, contained in the GBPI Incident
Report, Incident #: 23-300-OF, “1 advised Superintendent Dillon that because | had a complaint | was
obligated to do a follow-up on it. Superintendent Dillon said he did not have an issuc with us coming
to the school to sce if the book was present in the classroom and follow-up on the complaint.””

Chicf Storti was asked, based upon his training and experience, if he believed that the material was
inappropriate and of a pornographic nature, as contemplated by M.G.L. ¢. 272, § 29 (Dissemination
of Obscene Malter). He replied. “Yes.” He added that this was bascd. in part, becausc there were
only threc photographs, and no other context was provided. Chiel Storti also explained that he was
unable to determine the age of the individuals depicted in the illustrations and was unsure whether
students had access to the book. ™

Chief Storti was asked if he belicved that he needed a warrant to search for the Book at the School.
He replied, “No.” According to Chicf Storti, Dr. Dillon gave verbal consent for Officer O’ Brien to
come to the School and search for the Book. During their conversation, Dr. Dillon had advised Chicf
Storti that he had arranged with Miles Wheat, Principal of the School, to meet with Officer O’ Brien at
the School.

Chiel Stortr stated that he believed that there was veracity to the Complaint. The Complainant had
made themselves known to Officor O'Brien, and the Complainant had two photographs of the front
cover of the Book. as well as a photograph of illustrations contained in the Book.

. Chief Storti acknowledged that based upon his training and expericnce, he believed that the

Complaimant met the criteria to be considered a confidential informant. According to Chief Storti, the
Complainant stated that they had tirst-hand knowledge of students sitting on the Teacher’s lap, the
Complainant overheard the Teacher telling students not to tell their parents, and the Complainant had
photographs of the illustrations of the alleged obscene material. According to Chief Storti’s narrative,
contained in the GBPD incident Report, incident #; 23-300-OL. “T'he person requested to remain
confidential. as they feared for any retaliation it it was discovered that they provided the
information.™

. Chiel Storti explained that he did not originally release information regarding the first (wo

allegations, as he did not want to bring negative attention to the Teacher. Chief Storti stated that he
met with several residents of the community, one-on-one, for approximately two weeks, following the
Complaint. According to Chiel Storti, members of the community felt that the police were going to
the School to sensor educational material. Chicf Storti stated that this was not the case.

. On March 15, 2024, Officer Joseph O’ Brien. GBPD, was interviewed by Comprehensive

Investigations and Consuliing, LLC. The interview was conducted by telephone. Officer O Brien

" Narrative of Chief Paul Storti, GBPD Incident Report, Incident #:

-300-OF, dated 12/21/2023, Page |

23-3
ZNarrative of Chief Paul Storti, GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-OF, dated 12/21/2023, Page |
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*Narrative of Chiel Paul Storti, GBPD incident Report, Incident &

3-300-0OF, dated 12/21/2023, Page 1



stated that he has been employed as a police officer, with GBPD, for approximately nincteen years,
He acknowledged that he has read and understands the policies, procedures, rules, and regulations of
GBPD.

. On December 8. 2023, Officer O Brien was working al GBPD in his capacity as a police officer, He

stated that he was working the day shitt. 8am to 4pm, and was assigned as the desk officer. He
acknowledged that he was in uniform. He stated that an individual (the Complainant) came into
GGBPD. wishing to remain anonymous. The Complainant approached Officer O™ Brien and stated that
they had something of concern that they wanted to talk aboul. The Complainant proceeded fo tell
Ofticer O'Bricn that they had observed a teacher (the Teacher) at the Middle School (the School)
having students sit on their lap. The Complainant stated that they overheard conversations where the
Teacher had told students not to tell their parents, The Complainant also stated that they found a book
(the Book) in the room, that they found very concerning. The Complainant subsequently produced
three photographs of the Book. According to Officer O'Brien. the photographs were of the cover of
the Book and one internal page.

. According to Officer O"Brien’s narrative, contained in the GBPL Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-

OF, “The individual then presented 3 photographs of a book that was located on a desk in [the
Teacher’s] class room in the last 2 weeks. The photographs were of the book titled “Gender Queer”
and then of one interior page of illustrations. The captions with the images discuses a strap on dildo
and then shows onc individual with their pants undone wearing what appears to be a strap on dildo
and the other individual kneeling down in [ront and performing oral sex by placing the dildo into their
mouth. Without additional information at that time, the drawn characters appeared to be young
individuals that may be meant to portray children under the age of 18, which may be a violation of
Massachusetts General Law 272/29 Dissemination of obscene matter.™

. Ofticer O Bricn was asked if he felt that the Complainant met the criteria to be considered a

confidential mformant. Ofticer O"Brien explained that the Complainant identitied themselves to him
and presented themselves in person. He added, "And yes, based on that information, [they] showed
me credibility and knowledge.™ Ofticer O’ Brien acknowledged that this was based upon his training
and experience.

. Officer 'Brien was asked il upon observing the three photographs that the Complainant provided,

he immediately considered the illustrations to be obscenc. [e replied, “Based on my training and
given the context of where it was being presented. it met the criteria of the statute for dissemination,
uh, possibly of obscene matters to minors.™

. Officer O’ Brien stated that aficr the Complainant left the police station, he immedialely contacted

Chief Storti by telephone to inform him of the Complaint. Officer O’Brien was asked if there was
any discussion about consulting with the District Attorney’s Oflice. He stated not at that time.
Officer O Brien was then asked if, prior to going to the School, he and Chief Storti discussed possibly
obtaining a search warrant. e stated that he did not believe so.

. Officer O"Brien was asked if it was his understanding that GBPD had received consent from the

School Department to ook for the Book. He replied. “Yes. In tact, uh, Chicf Storti spoke with the
Superintendent directly, um, with mc in the room at one point, and, um, he agreed for me to go up

4 Narrative of Officer Joseph (3’ Brien, GBPD [ncident Report, Incident #: 23-300-0F, dated 12:/21/2023. Page |
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" Transcript of interview with Officer Joseph O Brien, dated March 15, 2024, Page 2
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there. In fact, he even told me what time it was good to go up there, um, to meet with the Principal
and - and go there.”™

Officer (Brien acknowledged responding to the School in plain clothes and an unmarked cruiser.
Onee at the School, he met with the Principal, Mr. Wheat. According to Officer O Brien’s narrative,
contained in the GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-OF, Mr. Wheat informed Officer O Brien
that the Teacher runs a LGBTQ club/meeting group that typically meets during the day, that he had no
concerns regarding the allegations against the Teacher, and that during the meetings the doors are kept
open. Mr. Wheat also acknowledged that he was aware that the group. on occasion, may suggest not
talking to parents or others about what is discussed in the group. According to Officer O'Brien’s
narrative, contained in the GIBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-OF, after this discussion, Mr,
Wheat then brought Officer O Brien to the Teacher’s L]as»sr(mm,

During his interview. Ofticer O Brien staied that he and Mr. Wheat then walked to the Teacher’s
classroom. Upon arrival at the Teacher’s classroom, it was obscrved that the Teacher was not in the
classroom. Mr. Wheat went to look for the Teacher while Officer O’ Brien waited in the hallway,
outside of the classroom.

. When Mr. Wheat and the Teacher returned, they briefly went inside the classroom to speak. Officer

Q" Brien stated that he remained in the hallway, outside of the classroom. Officer O'Brien was asked
il the door remained open while Mr. Wheat and the Teacher were speaking privately in the classroom.
He replied, “Yeah, they just kind of stepped around the corner. Um, you know, I mean, I'm, | think it
was a matter of probably a minute or less they might've went in there alone.”™® Officer O'Brien stated
he was then invited mto the classroom by Mr, Whealt.

Officer O Brien was asked if, after being invited into the {;Iassmom he shut the door. He replied.
“Um, my recollection is [ shut it to give the teacher some privacy.”™ He added, “Um, obviously we

were trying to keep this, you know, a -- a as lcast intrusive as it could to both the, the school

communily and the teacher, um, given this an allegation, and i1 still could be sensitive to [their]

10
cereer. ]

. Officer O Brien was then asked if it was his intention o block or attempt to block the door so that the

Teacher could not leave. He replied, “No.” e explained that when he was invited into the
classroom, both Mr. Wheat and the Teacher were already in the room. The bookcase, where the
Teacher stated the Book may be located, was right in front of the door. OlTicer O Brien stated, “So of
course, me being the last person i, [ would be between them and the door at that point. Um, there
was nothing in my mind that I thought I was blocking anybody or cven took that into
consideration.”"!

Officer O’ Bricn was asked if, at any time, the Teacher asked 1o leave. He rt‘:plied “No.” He was then
asked if] at any time, the Teacher approached the door. He again replied. “No.” Officer O Brien
stated that in fact, the Teacher told him that he was welcome to walk around the classroom. Officer
()" Brien described the tone of the conversation between the three of them as, “fairly casuval.” He
described the Teacher as, “polite™ and “friendly.” e deseribed Principal Wheat as, “cooperative and
polite.”

7 Transcript of interview with Officer Joseph O Brien. dated March 15, 2024, Page
# Transeript of interview with Officer Joseph O'Brien. dated March 15, 2024, Page

* Transcript ol nterview with Officer Joseph O Brien. dated March 15, 2024, Page 4
"% Transeript of interview with Officer Joseph O'Brien, dated March 15, 2024, Page 4
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Officer O’ Brien showed the Teacher a photograph of the Book. According to Officer O Brien. “Um,
[the Teacher] acknowledged it was there and, vou know, cooperative with [their] answers. And [the
Teacher] said, go ahead and look around the room or, or [ook on the bookease, look on my desk. And
items like that.”"* Officer O’ Brien estimated that the Teacher invited him to look around for the Book
at least three times,

. Officer O™ Brien stated. “Um, you know, as we were kind of finishing -- finishing up, um. we talked

about the follow up of it. Um, you know, 1 know everybody's trying to highlight a comment. [ said
like, “we could search the whole school,” and they're missing the context of that for sure.”"
According to Officer O Brien, what he meant was that the three of them could search everywhere for
the Book and may not find it anyway. According to Officer O Brien’s narrative, contained in the
GBPD Incident Repert, Incident #: 23-300-0OF. “1t was agreed we were not going to check any place
else in the school and that Principal Wheat would follow up with us on the following Monday.”™"

. Officer O'Brien was asked il, at any time, he meant that he could search every room in the School.

without consent or a scarch warrant. in an attempt to locate the Book. He replied. “No.” Ofticer

O’ Bricn was then asked if consent was revoked at any point. He replied, “However, that day, no,
nobody revoked us or consent that day at all.”™"® Officer O Brien estimated the entire intcraction with
the Teacher lasted approximately five minutes.

. After leaving the school. Officer (O’ Brien stated that he called Chief Storti to provide an update.

Chief Storti ashed Officer O’Brien to contact the District Attorney’s Office. Otticer O'Brien was
asked about his conversation with the District Attorney’s Office. Officer O'Brien stated, “At that
point, they, you know, they were under the initial impression that it was probably going to be treated
as a criminal matter.”™"

. Officer O'Brien was asked if at any point during this whole incident, he was ever informed by anyone

at the District Attorney’s OfTice that his actions were inconsistent with policy or law. e replied,
“No.” He was then asked il he personally belicved that an illegal search had occurred for the Book
while at the School. He again replied, "No.”

. Officer (' Bricn was asked if he personally believed that the actions of GBPID, in regard to this

incident, were “overreaching™ at any time. He replied, “No.” Lastly, Ofticer O'Brien was asked if he
belicved that his actions, as well as the actions of GBPD. were appropriate in regard to the incident at
the School, given all the information that they had at the time. He replied, “Yes.”

. On March 22, 2024, District Attorney Timothy Shugrue was interviewed by Comprehensive

Investigations and Consulting, LLC. This interviewed was conducted by telephone. DA Shugrue
acknowledged receiving a phone call on December 8, 2023, at approximately 4:18pm, regarding a
concern at the School. He stated thai the initial information he received was that potential graphic
pornographic material was being shown to students at the School. DA Shugrue added that he did not
abserve the photographs of the illustrations contained in the Book until four or five days later.

2. DA Shugrue was asked if, based upon the information that he had at that time, he believed that it was

lawful for GBPD, specifically OfTicer O'Brien, to go to the School and look for the Book. He replicd,

"? Transcript of interview with Officer Joseph ('Brien, dated March 15, 2024, Page 4
" Transcript of interview with Officer Joseph O Brien, dated March 15, 2024, Page 5
" Narrative of Officer Joseph O'Bricn, GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-01%, dated 12/26/2023, Page 3
" Transeript of interview with Officer Joseph O Brien, dated March 15, 2024, Page 6
" Transcript of interview with Officer Joseph O Brien, dated March 15, 2024, Page 7
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“...1 [ think it was -- it was very warranted and appropriate for there to be a further inquiry because
an allegation was made.™"" He added, *...and I think he did the right thing by calling the school first
and not just showing up there and responding and then getting actually the consent from the
Superintendent.”™™ According to DA Shugrue, the officer had a duty to inquire because an allegation
had been made.

. DA Shugruc acknowledged that in his professional opinion, the illustrations could have been

considered a violation of Massachusetts General Law Chapter 272, Section 29, Dissemination of
Obscene Matter. He added that based upon what was reported to GBPD, it would not have been
appropriate for OfTicer O™Brien not to have responded.

DA Shugrue was asked it he belicved that the Complainant met the criteria to be considered a
confidential informant. He replied, “Based upon what [ had been told at the time, 1 believe that he
was - that he would be considered a confidential informant.”"

. DA Shugrue was asked if, at any time, in his professional opinion as District Attorney. he considered

the actions of Officer O'Brien. or the actions of GBPD. to constitute an illegal or warrantless search.
[le replied. “Absolutely not. Not when -- especially when you had consent, there was nothing -- they

M

had tull consent 1o go there.”"

. DA Shugruc was then asked if he considered the actions of Officer O’ Brien. or the actions of GBPD.

to be “overreaching.” e replied, “Absolutely not. Absolutely not. Not when, again, we come back to
the consent issue.”™' He added if it had been discovered that day that the Book was a coming-of-age
book. **...this thing could have been put Lo rest on that day. Unfortunately, nobody knew what the
Book was, or no one saw the material until much later.”

. On March 28, 2024, Dr. Peter Dillon was interviewed by Comprehensive Investigations and

Consulting, LI.C. This interviewed was conducted by telephone. Dr. Dillon stated that he is
employed by the Berkshire Hills Regional School District, as the Superintendent of Schools. He
added that he is finishing his fifteenth yvear in that role.

In his role as Superintendent, Dr. Dillon explained that he essentially supervises the whole school
district. He stated that there are approximately three hundred employees, twelve hundred students
and three schools, each with a principal. He added that he supervises the principals. Dr. Dillon stated
that his major responsibilities include keeping the students safe and supporting their educational and
personal growth,

. Dr. Dillon was asked to describe his relationship with Chief Storti. He explained that historically, it

has been ~quitc positive.” since Storti has been in the role of Chiel. He added that they have worked
quite collaboratively.

Dr Dillon acknowledged receiving a phone call from Chief Storti on December 8, 2023, According to
Dr. Dillon, Chicl Storti telephoned him and shared concerns about a complaint (the Complaint) that
he had received at the police department. Regarding this Complaint, Dr. Dillon stated, “...s0 it was

T Transeript of interview with District Attormey Timothy Shugrue, dated March 22. 2024, Page 2
“ Transeript of interview with District Attorney Timothy Shugrue, dated March 22, 2024, Page 2
* Transeript of interview with District Attorney Timothy Shugrue, dated March 22, 2024, Page 3
2 Transcript of interview with District Attorney Timothy Shugrue, dated March 22, 2024, Page 3
“ Transcript of interview with District Attorney Timothy Shugrue, dated March 22, 2024, Page 3
# Transcript of interview with District Attorney Timothy Shugrue, dated March 22, 2024, Page 3
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the book [the Book |, it was kids sitting on a teacher's [the Teacher] lap. And thea the third allegation
was that [the Teacher| had been reported to be instructing the kids, or the young people, to not share
what was being discussed. with their parents.”™

Dr. Dillon was asked what Chief Storti told him about the person that reported the allegations (the
Complainant). He replied, “Nothing. And my recollection is 1 repeatedly asked for who that person
was." According 1o Dr. Dillon, Chief Storti stated that the Complainant was anonymous, and that’s
sort of where it was left. He acknowledged that Chiel Storti had, at some point, shared with him that
that Complainant wanted to remain anonymous due o fear of retahation for reporting the allegations
to the police department.

. Dr. Dillon explained that during their initial phone call, Chiefl Storti had described the photographs of

the iliustrations as inapproprate or something similar. Dr. Dillon belicved that Chiel Storti may have
also texted him the images of a couple of pages out of the book. He was unsure if this was during the
first phone call or a subsequent phone call.

Dr. Dillon believes that he then conducted some research on the Book. Dr, Dillon stated, “And later
that day. | think [ learned that on the onc hand, the Book had won several awards and was quite
celebrated. And on the other hand, some people saw it as provocative, offensive, ot even accused it of
being pornographic in nature.”™ He could not recall if he conducted this research before, after or
while OfTicer O Brien was at the School.

Dr. Dillon was asked about his initial thoughts upon seeing the photographs of the illustrations of the
Book. He replicd. “Out of context. they appeared potentially provocative. Later, 1 got a copy of the
Book and read it cover to cover. And in the context ol reading it, cover to cover, the context of it
made more sense.”"

. Dr. Dillon belicves he spoke with Chief Storti on three occasions that day, prior to Officer O’ Brien

going to the School. Between these three phone calls, Dr. Dillon stated that he also spoke
individually with the school principal. Mr. Wheat and the school committee chair, Mr. Bannon.
According to Dr. Dillon, during the [irst conversation with both Mr. Wheat and Mr, Bannon, he
discusscd the three allegations that were reported by the Complainant. Dr. Dillon stated, “1 think that
the second onc with the principal was around the possibility of a scarch 1o support the investigation.
And a nuanced thing is some people thought the search was all about the Book, and initially [ thought
the search was as much about the other two allegations as the Book.™’

Dr. Dillon was asked if there was ever any talk with Mr. Bannon or Mr. Wheat about obtaining a
search warrant. He replied, “No.” Dr. Dillon also did not believe there was any discussion with
Chief Storti, Mr. Bannon or Mr. Wheat about the fact that this specific scenario was not contemplated
by the policies in place at the School at that time.

Dr. Dillon explained that he and Chief Storti discussed that if they were going to proceed with the
investigation, could it be conducted in a way that was as unobtrusive as possible. This included an
officer in plain clothes and an unmarked cruiser. They also discussed having an ofticer respond to the
school after dismissal, after most students were out of the building.

2 Transcript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 2
# Transeript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 2
= Transcript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 3
* Transcript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 3
T Transeript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Pages 3-4



48.

50.

h
]

Dr. Dillon was advised that in hig narrative, contained in the incident report, Chiet Storti wrote,
“Dillon said he did not have an issue with us coming to the school to see if the book was present in
the classroom....”™ Dr. Dillon was asked if that was his recollection of what transpired during their
conversation. He replied, “My recollection's a little broader than that, so I wouldn't have stated it the
same way. | would've sort of said something more broadly, like, ‘Dillon said, it was okay for us to
proceed with an investigation about the three items that had been raised.”””

. Dr. Dillon then explained that years before he began his employment with the school district, there

was an allegation ot sexual abuse by a staft person that went to criminal court and was unfounded.
According to Dr. Dillon, it also went to civil claim and was settled. Dr. Dillon stated that this
weighed heavy on his decision.

Dr. Dillon acknowledged that there was no discussion on how they would proceed if the Book was
found in the Teacher’s classroom. He also acknowledged that there was no discussion, at that point,
regarding obtaining a search warrant. Dr. Dillon explained. “In hindsight, there probably should have
been a warrant all along, bui when it was perceived as a broader investigation, T had one attitude
towards it. And if it had been a much narrower investigation, I might've had a different attitude
toward it.”""

. Dr. Dillon was asked it it was his beliet. given his position as Superintendent, that he had the

authority to give Great Barrington Police Department consent to ook for the Book at the School. He
replied. “I did. and in hindsight, if I could do this again. [ would be very adamant to ask for a
warrant.™"!

. Dr. Dillon later clarified stating that he believed he had the authority to give consent for the police

departiment to imvestigate the three allegations that were presented to him: the Book, the allegation of
inappropriate touching. and the allegation of “things being kept secret.” Dr. Dillon stated, “And those
three things were used. in my mind. to open the door to ask me to approve the investigation.™ He
explained that the context for conducting a search for the Book is very different than the context for
conducting an investigation into what may be perceived as an imminent threat. e added that the
allegation of inappropriate touching and the allegation of things being kept secret, he saw as an
imminent threat.

. Dr. Dillon was then asked if during his conversation with Chief Storti. he ever explicitly stated that

his consent was limited to the allegation of physical touching, or if it was general consent to go to the
School and conduct a further inquiry. He replied, “Yeah. Around all three things.™

. Dr. Dillon was asked it Mr. Wheat, based upon his position as principal of the School, had the

authority to revoke consent tor Officer O Brien (o look for the book. He replied, yes and no. He
explained that they both had the formal authority to say no; however, he believes that law
enforcement, by their very role, can make it hard for pcople to say no to them. Dr. Dillon added that
Chief Storti works every day in law enforcement and may have known better that in this kind of
context, getting a warrant may have been more appropriate. il not necessary.

* Narrative of Chief Paul Storti, GRPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-OF, dated 12/21/2023, Page |
* Transcript of interview with De. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Pages 4-5

30

Transcript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page §

# Transeript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 6
* Pranscript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 6
F Transeript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 6
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. Dr. Dillon explained that he made his decision based on incomplete and inaccurate information. He

added that at the time. he made the best decision he could make. based on the information he had.

. Dr. Dillon was asked about Schoo! policies with respect to teachers’ expectations of privacy regarding

books in their classrooms. He stated that he did not want o speculate without having the policies
open in tront of him. Later that afiernoon, Dr. Dillon emailed three School policies: however, none
explicitly addressed privacy.

. On March 29. 2024, Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC., spoke with Attorney

Howard M. Cooper, who represents the Teacher. A request was made to interview the Teacher
regarding this investigation. As of the writing of this report, a response regarding this interview has
not heen received,
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CONCLUSION

On December 8, 2023, Officer O Brien, GBPD, received a complaint (the Complaint). The
individual (the Complainant) making the Complaint requested to remain anonymous. According to
Officer O Brien. the Complainant arrived at the police station in person and identified themselves.
The Complainant stated that: (1) they had first-hand knowledge of students silting on a teacher’s (the
Teacher) lap. (2) the Complainant overheard the Teacher telling students not to tell their parents, and
(3) the Complamant had three photographs ot illustrations ot alleged obscene material, which they
obscrved in the Teacher’s classroom at the W.L.B. Du Bois Middle School (the School). DA
Shugrue, Chiel Storti and Officer O’ Brien each acknowledged that the Complainant mei the criteria
to be considered a “confidential mformant.”

Based on all the information, Chiel Storti believed that the police department had a duty to
immediately {ollow up on the Complaint. DA Shugrue stated that they would have been frowned
upon if they did not look mto that inquiry further. '

Chiet Storti contacted Dr. Peter Dillon. Superintendent of Berkshire Hills Regional School District,
regarding the Complaint. Chiel Storti stated that he has a great relationship with Dr. Dillon. Dr.
Dillon stated that historically. his relationship with Chiel Storti has been quite positive. During their
phone conversation, Dr. Dillon believes that Chief Storti may have also texted him the images of the
llustrations of the Book. When he initially obscrved the photographs of the illustrations, Dr. Dillon
stated that out of context, they appeared potentially provocative. Chief Storti and Dr. Dillon
determined that no one knew what the Book was about. Chief Storti stated that the illustrations were
concerning because there was no context provided.

Dr. Dillon explaincd that later thal day, he conducted some research on the Book. Ile stated that on
the one hand. the Book had won several awards and was quite celebrated. On the other hand, some
people saw il as provocative, offensive. or even accused it of being pornographic in nature.

DA Shugrue acknowledged that in his protessional opinion, the illustrations could have been
considered a violation of Massachusetts General Law Chapter 272, Section 29, Dissemination of
Obscene Matler. Chief Storti also acknowledged that, based upon his training and experience, the
material was inappropriate and of a pornographic nature. Chief Storti added that this was based, in
part, because there were only three photographs, and no other context was provided. Officer O'Brien
stated that based on his training and given the context of where it was being presented, the
illustrations et the criteria for dissemination of obscenc matters to minors,

Dr. Dillon stated that he believes that he and Chief Storti had three separate phone conversations that
day. Dr. Dillon stated that he also spoke with the school principal, Mr. Wheat and the school
committee chair, Mr. Bannon. regarding the allegations. Dr. Dillon believes that his sccond
conversation with Mr. Wheat was around the possibility of a search to support the investigation. Dr.
Dillon added that some people thought the search was all about the Book: however, he initially
thought the scarch was as much about the other two allegations as the Book. Dr. Dillon
acknowledged that during his conversation with both Mr. Wheat and Mr. Bannon, there was no
discussion about obtaining a scarch warrant.

According to Chicf Storti, Dr. Diflon gave verbal consent for Officer O'Brien to come to the School
and search for the Book. Dr. Dillon acknowledged that based upon his position as Superintendent, he
had the authority to give Great Barrington Police Department consent to look for the Book at the
School. During his interview, De. Dillon stated that he was not approving only the investigation into
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the Book; he was approving the investigation into the other two allegations, that at the time, he
perecived as more or equally pressing. Dr. Dillon explained that he saw the other two allegations as
an “imminent threat.” Dr. Dillon acknowledged that Chiet Storti had consent to conduct an
investigation around the Book, and an allegation of inappropriate touching, and an allegation about
telling kids to keep secrets. He added that he saw what Chief Storti was asking for as a package deal:
for an investigation of all three allegations.

8. During his interview, Dr. Dillon stated. “And in hindsight, when the investigation shifted from being
about three things to one thing, there might've been an opportunity there to pause and have a
conversation about a warrant.™" 1lc added, “In hindsight, there probably should have been a warrant
all along: but when it was perceived as a broader investigation, I had one attitude towards it. And if it
had been a much narrower investigation, [ might've had a different attitude toward it

9. Dr. Dillon then arranged for Mr. Wheat to meet with Officer O’Bricen at the School. In order to be as
unobtrusive as possible, it was decided that Officer O’ Brien would respond to the School at the end of
the school day, in plain clothes and in an unmarked cruiser.

10. Officer O'Bricn subscquently met with Mr. Wheat at the School. They had some initial conversation
in Mr, Wheat's office and then walked to the Teacher’s classroom together, When the Teacher was
not observed to be in the classroom, Mr. Wheat left Officer O’ Brien in the hallway, outside of the
classroom. and went o look for the Teacher.

11. Mr. Wheat and the Teacher returmed to the classroom and briefly went inside the classroom to speak.
Officer O Brien remained in the hallway, outside of the classroom. Mr. Wheat then invited Ofticer
()’ Brien into the classroom. According to Officer O'Brien. he shut the door to the classroom to be
provide privacy for the Teacher. He stated that it was not his intention to block the door so that the
Teacher could not leave,

12, Officer O Brien showed the Teacher a photograph of the Book. 'The Teacher acknowledged that the
Book was there and advised Officer O'Brien that he was welcome to look around the classroom.
Officer O Brien estimated that the Teacher invited him to look around for the Book, on at least three
oceasions. The following are excerpts [rom the transcript of Officer O'Brien’s body camera video on
December 8, 2023:

o [00:01:00] Officer O’ Brien: This is the issue. Um, it’s not the. [t's not the general idea of
what the book’s about. 1t's that you can’t present that Kind of material (o people under 18.
Um, so that’s our concern, um, that’s why we're here.

e [00:01:13] Teacher: Yeah, it’s a memoir about coming of age. | mean, you're welcome to
remove it il you see 1t, but.

o [00:02:24] Officer O’ Brien: Okay. but any place else in the room that it might be lcfl
floating around?

e [00:02:28] Teacher: You're welcome to look around. 1 have not scen it. So.

o [00:04:27] Officer (’Brien: So, it looks like at this point anyways -- il was around vour desk
arca -- was it around vour desk at all?

o [00:04:33] Teacher: You're welcome to look, but I don’t think so. | haven’t seen it.

e [00:04:38} Officer O’Brien: The only reason I'm referencing that is just I see what looks like
-- maybe this tin cup or papers and what looks like a desk.

¥ Transeript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, duted March 28, 2024, Page 5
¥ Transcript of interview with Dr. Peter Dillon, dated March 28, 2024, Page 5
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e [00:04:48] Teacher: Let me see. Uh. Yeah. That uh, that would, that’s the center table. But
it’s definitely not over there because | just cleaned it oft. But again, you're welcome to look.
e [00:04:57] Teacher: Yeah. Peel free to look.™

13. Ofticer O’ Brien acknowledged that he made the comment, “we can scarch the whole school,”
towards the end of their conversation. Officer O’ Brien stated that the comment was taken out of
context. Officer O Brien explained that he meant that the three of them could scarch the entire school
and still not be able 1o find the Book. He did not mean he could search every room in the School
without a search warrant or consent. The following are excerpts {rom the transeript of Officer
(O'Brien’s body camera video on December 8, 2023

s [00:02:43] Officer O’Brien: It’s a litile thicker than that from what [ saw in the picture. We
did our duc diligence to make sure it’s not here. However, when it does return, um, | think it
needs to be turned over to Miles and we'll go from there at this point. Um, obviously it's like
[ said, it’s not the general material itself, it’s the images that are in it, um, that constitutes
material that vou can’t disseniinate to children. [Rustling noises] Would vou know of any
specific teacher that would borrow that book that could have it right now? [t’s.

o [00:05:26] Officer O’Brien: Don’t specifically see it anywhere right now. 1 mean, obviously
somewhere in the teaching enviconment. Um, not necessarily right now. Um, that would be
my sugeestion that it's turned over to Miles, and we proceed from there on that. 1 would make
it a point yourselt as a teacher to go through the books that are there to make sure there’s no
other images that would be deeming stuff like that. Um, you know, for visual content.

e [00:06:17] Officer O’Brien: Yeah. | mean. it you’rc okay with that Miles. | mean, yeah, |
mean, we could sit here and search every room and ask every teacher I'd rather not go that
route and, you know and disrupt cverything over one book that were looking for to make
surc it’s not there anymore.

o [00:06:32] Mr. Wheat: There’s people still here. So when we're done, 11 just. I’il ask
around and someone will likely have it, and -~ when we find it -

e [00:06:39] Officer 3’ Brien: Yeah. And just let us know and we can touch basc on Monday
atter the weekend. At this point, ['d say.

o |00:07:26] Officer (’Brien: Okay. | think that’s the route to go. Just to, yvou know, try to ask
the teachers where that book’s at. Um. at least take it out of circulation for now and we can
follow up from there. Um, on the matter.”

14, Dr. Dillon was asked if, based upon Mr. Wheat's position as principal of the School. he had authority
to revoke congent for Officer O'Brien 1o look for the Book. According to Dr. Dillon, he, and Mr.
Wheat both had the formal authority to say no; however, law enforcement, by their very role can
make it hard for people to say no to them. Dr. Dillon added that at the time, he made the best decision
he could based on the information he had.

15, According to Chief Storti’s narrative, contained in the GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-OF.
he and Superintendent Dillon spoke on Tuesday. December 12, 2023, In his narrative. Chief Storti
wrote, “Superintendent Dillon and T discussed the policies and procedures they have to report a

“ Transeript of Officer Joseph O'Brien’s body camera video footage, contained in the Berkshire Hills Reginal

School District Investigative Report. December 8, 2023 - Police Search, W.E.B. Du Bois Middle School, dated
February 16, 2024, authored by Kevin M. Kinne, Cohen Kinne Valicenti and Cook LLP

F Transcript of Officer Joseph O’ Brien’s body camera video footage, contained in the Berkshire Hills Reginal

School District nvestigative Report, December 8, 2023 - Police Search, W.E.B. Du Bois Middle School. dated
February 16, 2024, authored by Kevin M. Kinne, Cohen Kinne Valicenti and Cook LLP
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situation like this within the school and that the policy didn’f cover this situation, when an incident is
reported to the police and not the school.”™

16. According to Officer O'Brien’s narrative, contaimed in the GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-
QF, *On December 14, 2023 at 1135 1rs | received a phone call from ADA Giarolo, ADA Giarclo
advised me that DA Shugrue and Superintendent Peter Dillon had talked directly and that it was no
longer a criminal matter and the school would handle it internally.”"

17. In Plock v. Board of Education, 545 F.Supp. 2d 755 (U.S. District Court for the Northern District of
1linois 2007), the federal district court held that teachers do not have an expectation of privacy in
their classrooms. The classroom is not reserved for the teacher’s private use, but is open to students,
other faculty, administrators, custodians and parents. Furthermore, Officer O'Brien’s search was
limited in scope and did not include a search of the Teacher’s desk.

18. Based upon a thorough review of all submitted documents, information, and recordings, as well as
interviews of relevant partics: it is the opmion of Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, that
based upon the information that existed at that time, Chief Storti and Officer O’ Brien reasonably
believed that:

a)  the Complainant met the criteria (o be considered a “confidential informant.”

b) the initial photographs of the iHustrations cantained within the Book. without Turther context,
were reasonably considered inappropriate and of a pornographic nature, as contemplated by
M.G.1.c. 272, § 29 (Dissemination of Obscene Matter).

¢} the police department had a duty to inquire further, based upon the nature of the allegations.

d) consent was given by [Dr. Peter Dillon, Superintendent of the Berkshire Hills Regional School
District, to respond to the School and conduct a further inquiry; which included a search for
the Book.

c) the consent given by Dr. Dillon was not fimited.

) consent to search for the Book was not revoked at any time.

a) while in the Teacher’s classroom, Officer O Brien reccived consent from the Teacher to look
for the book, on at least four occasions.

*# Narrative of Chief Paul Storti, GBPD Incident Report, Incident #: 23-300-0F, dated 12/21/2023, Page 2
* Narrative of Officer Joseph O Brien, GBPD Incident Report, Incident 4: 23-300-OF, dated 12/26/2023, Page 3
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FINDINGS

Based upon a thorough review of all submitted documents. information, and recordings, as well
as interviews of relevant parties; Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC., concludes the
following:

Comprchensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC., finds that the actions of Officer Joseph O'Brien. as

well as the actions of the Great Barrington Police Department, regarding the incident at the W.E.B, Du
Bois Middie Scheol, on December 8, 2023, were law(ul and proper. EXONERATED
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REVIEW OF GBPD POLICY 1.05 - PRELIMINARY
INVESTIGATIONS

Comprchensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC., reviewed Great Barrington Police Department
Policy and Procedure No. 1.05, Preliminary Investigations, LiTective Date: 09/03/2008.
Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC., also reviewed the proposed revised version of
Great Barrington Police Department Policy and Procedure No. 1.05, Preliminary Investigations,
Revision Date: 01/10/2024. The fullowing proposed language had been added to the policy:

Preliminary investigations are conducted on all incidents that violate the criminal code ot the
Commonwealth or town bylaws, or have the potential to result in a criminal or civil action. We need
to verity the information provided by the complainant to determine if it is credible or not. The
immediate police response and preliminary investigation is essential to discover facts, verify
information, speak to witnesses and preserve physical evidence.

Reports ol incidents involving the possession or use of educational materials within an cducational
institution/school in the Town of Great Barrington shall be addressed as follows. For purposes of this
rule “educational materials™ shall mean books, other written materials of any kind. images, and video
and/or audio recordings. that relatc or may relate to curricutum. learning, and/or instruction approved
by the educational institution.

Upon receipt of a report of an incident aliegedly involving such educational materials, the Chief of
Police, or their designee. shall be notilied immediately. The Chicef of Police, or their designee, shall
immediately notily the Superintendent/chief administrative officer of the school district/institution
and the Town Manager. 'The Chicf of Police/designee shall determine whether any applicable policies
of the school district/institution regarding such educational materials and access by administrators to
such materials have been or arc being complied with. No search for educational material shall be
conducted within the applicable school building by members of the Police Department unless such
search complies with the requirements of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution,
including but not limited to any requirement that the search be conducted pursuant to a warrant issued
by a court of competent jurisdiction.

The previous Great Barrington Police Department Policy and Procedure No. 1.05, Preliminary
Investigations, Effective Date: 09/03/2008, did not contain any language specifically contemplating
the events that transpired on December 8, 2023, at the W.E.B. Du Bois Middle School. The proposed
revised Great Barrington Police Department Policy and Procedure No. 1.05, Preliminary
Investigations, Revision Date: 01/10/2024, includes language specific to “educational materials

within an educational institution/school in the Town ot Great Barrington.” The term “educational
materials™ is defined in the proposed revised policy.

The propesed revised policy also includes specific actions to be performed by officers receiving
complaints regarding educational materials, within an educational institution/school in the Town of
Great Barrington. 1his includes notifications to appropriate personnel at the police department, the
school district, and the Town.

In its current form, the revised proposed policy states, “'I'he Chicf of Police/designee shall determine
whether any applicable policies of the school district/institution regarding such cducational materials
and access by administrators to such maierials have been or are being complied with.”
Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting, LLC.. recommends the following revision: “The Chiel
of Police/designec, in conjunclion with the Superintendent/chicl administrative officer of the school
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district/institution, and the Town Manager, shall determine whether any applicable policies of the
school district/institution, regarding such cducational materials and access by administrators to such
materials, have been or are being complied with.”

The proposed revised policy also includes language prohibiling searches for educational material
within applicable school buildings, by members of the Police Department, unless such search
complics with the requirements of the ifourth Amendment 1o the United States Constitution, including
but not himited to any requirement that the search be condueted pursuant to a warrant issued by a
courl of competent jurisdiction.

It is the opinion of Comprehensive [nvestigations and Consulting, LLC ., that the proposed revisions,
along with the recommendation outlined in paragraph 4. contain sullicient language to guard against
any future incidents similar to those which occurred at the W.E.B. Du Bois Middic Schoal on
December 8, 2023, It is recommended that the proposed revised policy be promulgated. disseminated
to all officers employed by GBPD, and that all officers receive formal training regarding the revised
policy.

Upon reviewing the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between Berkshire [Hills Regional
School District and the Great Barringlon Police Department, July 1, 2019, to June 30, 2021, it also
did not appear to contain any language specifically contemplating the events that transpired on
December 8, 2023, at the W.E.B. Du Bois Middle School. [t appeared that this MOU expired on June
30, 2021, In this regard, 1t is the recommendation of Comprehensive Investigations and Consulting,
LLC., that an updated MOLUL between Berkshire Hills Regional School Distriet and the Great
Barrington Police Department be completed. All otficers employed by GBPD should receive formal
training regarding this MOLU.
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